No. 40232 2 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 3 4 5 DALE EDWARD FLANAGAN, Appellant, 7 v. THE STATE OF NEVADA and E.K. McDANIEL, Warden, Ely State Prison, 9 Respondents. 10 11 Appeal from an Order Dismissing a Petition For Writ of Habeas Corpus 12 Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Mark Gibbons, District Judge 13 Case No. C69269 **Death Penalty Case** 14 15 16 APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 17 18 CAL J. POTTER, III Nevada Bar No. 001988 19 1125 Shadow Lane 20 Telephone 702.385.1954 21 ROBERT D. NEWELL 22 23 Portland, Oregon 97201 24 Tel: 503.241.2300 Fax: 503.778.5299 25 26

FILED

MACINAL

AUG 2 9 2005

JANETTE M. BLOOM CLERK OF SUPREME COURT DEPUTY CLERK

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues before the Court in this appeal are:

- 1. Whether the district court properly denied discovery and an evidentiary hearing on the issues of actual innocence, prosecutorial misconduct, and ineffective assistance of counsel, among others, and denied relief on all claims
- 2. Whether the district court properly denied discovery and relief on the narrow issue of ineffective assistance of counsel arising out of a conflict between co-counsel for Petitioner during his third penalty hearing.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Appellant Dale Edward Flanagan ("Flanagan") appeals the denial of his petition for a writ of habeas corpus regarding his convictions and death sentence for murders committed in November 1984. Following his conviction and direct appeals, Flanagan filed a petition, challenging the legality of his convictions and sentences. The District Court, Eighth Judicial District Judge Mark Gibbons, denied discovery on all issues, and denied an evidentiary hearing on all but a narrow portion of one of the 36 claims presented.

B. Procedural History

Flanagan was charged by Information with conspiracy to commit burglary, conspiracy to commit robbery, conspiracy to commit murder, burglary, robbery with the use of a deadly weapon and First Degree murder with the use of a deadly weapon (1 Appellant's Appendix 4, 19, 237 ("AA")). Trial began in September 1985, and on October 11, 1985, the jury convicted on all charges (12 AA 2756-62) and sentenced him to death on October 17, 1985 (13 AA 2967). On May 18, 1988, this Court affirmed Flanagan's convictions, but reversed his death sentence. Flanagan v. State (Flanagan I), 104 Nev. 105, 754 P.2d 836 (1988).

At the retrial, Flanagan was again sentenced to death (18 AA 4198). Although this Court affirmed Flanagan's sentence, <u>Flanagan v. State (Flanagan II)</u>, 107 Nev. 243, 810 P.2d 759 (1991), the Supreme Court reversed the judgment. <u>Flanagan v. Nevada (Flanagan III)</u>, 503 U.S.

- 931 (1992). On February 10, 1993, this Court remanded the case for a new penalty trial.
- 2 Flanagan v. State (Flanagan IV), 109 Nev. 50, 846 P.2d 1053 (1993). At the third penalty trial,
- 3 Flanagan was again sentenced to death. (25 AA 6000). On December 20, 1996, this Court
- affirmed the judgment (25 AA 6040). Flanagan v. State (Flanagan V), 112 Nev. 1409, 930 P.2d
- 5 691 (1996), cert. denied, Flanagan v. Nevada (Flanagan VI), 523 U.S. 1083 (1998).
- On May 28, 1998, Flanagan filed a Pro Per Petition for Post Conviction Relief and
- 7 requested appointment of counsel (26 AA 6323). On June 5, 1998, counsel was appointed, who
- 8 file a Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on November 30, 1999 (26 AA 6345).
- 9 On August 16, 2000, the District Court denied Flanagan's Motion for Discovery (30 AA
- 10 7282), and on February 14, 2002, the Court held a limited evidentiary hearing (30 AA 7314). By
- Order dated June 19, 2002, the Court denied the petition (31 AA 7521). On August 8, 2002, the
- 12 Court entered Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and ordered the Petition denied (31 AA
- 13 7530). On August 16, 2002, the District Court mailed Notice of Entry of Decision and Order (31
- 14 AA 7564). Flanagan timely filed his Notice of Appeal on September 12, 2002 (31 AA 7568).

15 C. Statement of Relevant Facts

- On November 5, 1984, Colleen and Carl Gordon, Flanagan's grandparents, were shot to death in their Las Vegas home. Flanagan and five other teenage boys were charged with their
- murders (1 AA 237). Flanagan was initially represented by the Clark County Public Defender,
- but, shortly before the evidentiary hearing, that office developed a conflict (which is entirely
- 20 unexplained in the record) and was allowed to withdraw (2 AA 252, 254). Randall Pike, an
- 21 inexperienced attorney, was appointed to represent Flanagan just days before the evidentiary
- hearing began (2 AA 257-60). Trial immediately followed that hearing. Flanagan was convicted
- on all counts and the jury found no mitigating circumstances, despite Flanagan's youth and lack
- 24 of a prior criminal record (12 AA 2756-62; 13 AA 2983).
- As explained above, this Court twice has reversed death sentences imposed on Flanagan
- 26 because of persistent prosecutorial misconduct. Despite the pervasiveness of the prosecution's
- 27 misconduct, this Court did not reverse the conviction (13 AA 3177).

The facts developed and presented in the post-conviction proceedings demonstrate that Randall Pike was ineffective in every aspect of the case. For example, he conducted no investigation of the underlying facts of the crime, hired no experts, in either the guilt or penalty phase, allowed the court, without challenge, to impose an unusual and unfavorable regime for making evidentiary objections and generally allowed the prosecution to ride roughshod over Flanagan's rights, all of which resulted in his conviction and sentence (30 AA 7148, Pike Aff.).

Had Pike conducted even a minimal investigation, he would have found evidence of Flanagan's actual innocence and would have presented a substantial case in mitigation that almost certainly, given the predilection of the jurors, would have led to a sentence of less than death. For example, in these habeas proceedings, Flanagan presented evidence that Robert Ramirez, who was interviewed several times by the Las Vegas police, told the police that Flanagan was actively trying to prevent the murders (30 AA 7186, Ramirez Dec. ¶13). Not only was that evidence withheld from the defense (2 AA 266-11 AA 2707), but Randall Pike did not discover it and, indeed, did not even look for it (30 AA 7148). Had he done so, the original jury almost certainly would have had a reasonable doubt about Flanagan's guilt.

Moreover, despite evidence of Flanagan's mental illness during his incarceration leading up to trial, and despite overwhelming evidence of his childhood abuse and neglect, his extreme mistreatment at the hands of the victims of this crime, 34 AA [filed under seal] 8034, Holdman Dec. ¶¶ 3, 5, 6; 34 AA 8061, Holdman Dec. ¶¶ 4, 5, 7, his heavy use of drugs and alcohol, including his extreme intoxication on the date of the crime (30 AA 7207, Kriegler Dec. ¶¶ 17-21), Pike did no investigation and presented no defense at the guilt phase and only the most minimal case in mitigation (12 AA 2763-13 AA 2966; 30 AA 7148). Similarly, counsel in the subsequent trials failed to undertake adequate investigation and development of readily available and compelling mitigation (30 AA 7204).

Despite this evidence, the court below denied every request for discovery (27 AA 6537; 30 AA 7282), and limited the scope of the evidentiary hearing, which lasted less than one day, to one extremely narrow issue (30 AA 7282, 7293, 7310).

III. ARGUMENT

1

2

3

4

5

7

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

In the District Court, Flanagan presented 36 prima facie statutory and constitutional claims in the Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (26 AA 6345-27 AA 6480). In addition to the detailed factual allegations contained in the Petition, Flanagan documented his entitlement to relief with 487 pages of exhibits accompanying the Petition and various motions (27 AA 6537-30 AA 7229). In response, the State generally denied the allegations in cursory fashion without explanation or factual support (27 AA 6488). Prior to and contemporaneously with the filing of the Reply to the State's response, Flanagan filed extensive requests for funding for investigation and experts and permission to conduct discovery to develop his entitlement to relief (34 AA [filed under seal]). In addition, Flanagan requested an evidentiary hearing on 19 of the 36 claims (30 AA 7230). Rather than permit the orderly and full development of the facts giving rise to his constitutional claims, the court truncated its review by summarily denying Flanagan's motions (30 AA 7282), conducting an unduly restrictive evidentiary hearing (30 AA 7326; 31 AA 7405; 30 AA 7312), and denying the Petition without permitting Flanagan the opportunity to prove his factual allegations (30 AA 7251; 7293, 7296, 7302-11; 7312). Under these circumstances – where the fact-finding and fair adjudicative process has been so distorted – a remand is necessary to permit adequate factual development of each claim.

First, the District Court improperly deprived Flanagan the funds necessary to investigate and present his claims for relief. As demonstrated in his funds requests, Flanagan required state-provided funds to hire investigators and experts to fully develop and present his claims (34 AA [filed under seal]). The District Court's rulings deprived Flanagan of the resources necessary to do so. Due process, equal protection, and the right to access to the courts guaranteed by the federal Constitution require a State to provide the funds necessary for an indigent petitioner to develop his claims and prepare for an evidentiary hearing. This Court has recognized the need

See Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 79 (1985) (State may not legitimately maintain "a strategic advantage over the defense, if the result of that advantage is to cast a pall on the accuracy of the [sentencing] verdict obtained"); Britt v. North Carolina, 404 U.S. 226, 227 (1971) (indigent defendants entitled to "basic tools of an adequate defense."); Bounds v. Smith, 430 U.S. 817, 823 (1970) (access to courts must be adequate, effective, and meaningful); U.S. v. Hartfield, 513 F.2d 254, 258 (9th Cir. 1975), overruled on other grounds, U.S. v. Sneezer, 900 F.2d 177, 179

of providing adequate assistance to indigent criminal defendants. See Pertgen v. State, 105 Nev.

2 282, 284, 774 P.2d 429 (1989) (approving trial court's authorization of "three psychiatrists to

assist [defendant] in determining the viability of the insanity defense in his case").

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

27

Second, the District Court improperly denied Flanagan's discovery requests (27 AA 4 6537; 30 AA 7282). A habeas petitioner is "entitled to careful consideration and plenary 5 processing of [his claims], including full opportunity for presentation of the relevant facts,' 6 which includes 'the benefit of compulsory process.'" Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 82, 83, 7 n.26 (1977) (quoting Harris v. Nelson, 394 U.S. 286, 298 (1969)). Without discovery and the 8 opportunity thereafter to develop facts, petitioner cannot satisfy his obligation to "conduct a 9 10 reasonable and diligent investigation" and completely present his habeas claims. McCleskey v. 11 Zant, 499 U.S. 467, 494 (1991); see also Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 420 (2000) (failure by State to provide discovery requires federal habeas court to authorize appropriate fact-finding).² 12

Nevada law similarly recognizes the importance of affording habeas petitioners reasonable access to discovery. NRS 34.780 provides that "a party may invoke any method of discovery available under the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure if, and to the extent that, the judge or justice for good cause shown grants leave to do so." This provision is virtually identical to Rule 6 of the Rules Governing Section 2254 Cases in the U.S. District Courts. To effectuate petitioners' right to fair adjudication of their claims, the Supreme Court has recognized that courts have the "duty... to provide the necessary facilities and procedures for an adequate inquiry" into any potentially viable claims raised by a habeas corpus petition, and into any claim that gives "reason to believe... [it] may, if the facts are fully developed... demonstrate that [the petitioner] is confined illegally." Harris, 394 U.S. at 300; see also Brown v. Vasquez, 952 F.2d 1164, 1167 (9th Cir. 1991). Using the "good cause" standard, federal courts routinely have

n. 3 (9th Cir. 1990) ("If the fairness of our system is to be assured, indigent defendants must have access to minimal defense aids to offset the advantage presented by the vast prosecutorial and investigative resources available to the Government."); cf. 21 U.S.C. § 848(q)(4)(B) (federal petitioners challenging state death sentences are entitled to "reasonably necessary services").

² For example, although ordered to make its file available for inspection, 31 AA 7578, the State disclosed no police reports or any other investigative materials (33 AA 7827, Newell Aff.).

permitted the discovery sought here. <u>See, e.g., Coleman v. Zant, 708 F.2d 541, 547 (11th Cir.</u>
 1986); <u>Warden v. Gall, 865 F.2d 786, 787-88 (6th Cir. 1989).</u>

Without permitting discovery, the District Court's summary adjudication of Flanagan's 3 claims was erroneous. See, e.g., Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 250 n.5 (1986) 4 5 (noting that Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(f) provides "that summary judgment [is to] be refused where the nonmoving party has not had the opportunity to discover information that is 6 essential to his opposition"); Klingele v. Eikenberry, 849 F.2d 409, 413 (9th Cir. 1988) ("It was, 7 therefore, an abuse of discretion for the district court to grant summary judgment before 8 permitting discovery"). Indeed, well-established rules preclude premature adjudication of 9 10 summary judgment motions in federal courts when discovery is necessary for the opposition. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(f); Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 326 (1986) (permitting discovery 11 prevents non-moving party from being "railroaded" by premature summary judgment motions). 12 Third, the District Court improperly dismissed 19 claims without conducting an evidentiary 13 hearing (30 AA 7282). Summary dismissal was inappropriate because the State failed to prove 14 15 that the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to Flanagan, established no genuine issue as to any material fact, and that the State was entitled to judgment as a matter of law in light of the 16 17 undisputed facts. See Anderson, 477 U.S. at 255 (court must view pleadings and other material presented in the light most favorable to petitioner and give him the benefit of all reasonable 18 inferences to be drawn from the facts); Marshall v. State, 110 Nev. 1328, 885 P.2d 603, 606 19 (1994) ("When a petition for post-conviction relief raises claims supported by specific factual 20 allegations which, if true, would entitle the petitioner to relief, the petitioner is entitled to an 21 22 evidentiary hearing unless those claims are repelled by the record."). To meet this burden, the 23 State was required to establish a right to judgment with such clarity as to leave no room for controversy, and to show that Flanagan was not entitled to prevail under any discernable 24 circumstances. See Mann v. State, 118 Nev. 351, 46 P.3d 1228, 1229 (2002) (State failed to 25 establish that petitioner's claim was "belied by the record" and thus the failure to hold a hearing 26 was error). As this Court recognized in Mann, it is insufficient for the State to proffer a differing 27

1 version of the facts to avoid an evidentiary hearing: "A claim is not "belied by the record"

because a factual dispute is created by the pleadings or affidavits filed during the post-conviction 2

proceedings. A claim is "belied" when it is contradicted or proven to be false by the record as it 3

existed at the time the claim was made." Mann, 46 P.3d at 1230.³ 4

Finally, the District Court abdicated its responsibility as an impartial and fair decision-maker by 5

adopting verbatim the State's proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (31 AA 7530-6

60). These "findings" were not made following the full presentation of facts necessary to resolve 7

the 36 claims. 8 Rather, they consisted entirely of the State's distorted and unsupported

allegations. Procedural due process, guaranteed by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, 9

demands that adjudicative proceedings be conducted with "fundamental fairness." Watson v. 10

11 Patterson, 358 F.2d 297, 298 (10th Cir. 1966). Due process includes the right to have a court

independently weigh the evidence.⁴ Appellate courts consistently have examined lower courts' 12

13 findings and the process used to arrive at those facts to determine whether a court satisfied its

role as fact finder consistent with due process.⁵ Furthermore, appellate courts refuse to apply a 14

15 deferential standard when the lower court merely adopted the prevailing party's findings, and

instead review them under a "greater scrutiny" standard. By failing to arrive at its own factual 16

(evaluating whether court properly weighed the facts and concluding that "where we are left with 21 the certain conviction, or more often an abiding impression, that a party was not afforded a fair

and adequate opportunity to present his cause, we do not hesitate to reverse"). 22

that because the district court's conclusions deviated from those of the prevailing party, the trial

court "did not 'uncritically accept' [its] proposals") (citation omitted). 26

¹⁷ See also Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248, 71 P.3d 503, 508 (2003); Palmer v. State, 118 Nev. 823, 59 P.3d 1192, 1197 (2002) (where record fails to provide need facts "an evidentiary hearing 18 on this issue is therefore necessary").

See, e.g., Beck v. Quiktrip Corp., 708 F.2d 532, 536 (10th Cir. 1983) (analyzing whether "all 19 competent and material evidence [was] received and considered by the court" in determining whether the trial was conducted with "fundamental fairness" under the Due Process clause); 20 Thermo King Corp. v. White's Trucking Service, Inc., 292 F.2d 668, 678 (5th Cir. 1961)

See, e.g., Anderson v. City of Bessemer City, North Carolina, 470 U.S. 564, 572-73 (1985) 23 (lower court did not "uncritically accept [] findings prepared without judicial guidance by the prevailing party" because the findings of the court "vary considerably in organization and content from those submitted by petitioner's counsel"); L.K. Comstock & Co. v. United Eng. & 24 Constructors, Inc., 880 F.2d 219, 222 (9th Cir. 1989) (applying "careful scrutiny" and finding 25

See, e.g., In Re Alcock v. Small Business Administration, 50 F.3d 1456, 1459 n.2 (9th Cir. 1995) ("Findings of fact prepared by counsel and adopted by the trial court are subject to greater 27 scrutiny than those authored by the trial judge."); L.K. Comstock & Co., 880 F.2d at 222 ("When

findings, the court below neither independently weighed the factual issues nor determined the findings. Rather, it copied verbatim the State's findings of fact, most of them on matters for which no hearing was held. Given the court's abdication of its fact-finding role, the remedy is for this Court to remand for proper resolution of the disputed facts. See, e.g., In re Marriage of Jovel, 49 Cal.App.4th 575, 589 (1996) (remand necessary where finding was insufficient and "provides an inadequate basis for reviewing the exercise of the trial court's discretion").

Claim 1

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

Without permitting discovery or conducting an evidentiary hearing, the District Court improperly denied Flanagan's claim that the prosecutors in each trial engaged in pervasive and egregious misconduct and systematically engaged in campaigns to deprive Flanagan of any semblance of a fair trial or reliable guilt and penalty determinations. Mr. Seaton and Mr. Harmon, who, throughout their careers, have displayed a callous disregard for a fair judicial process and have engaged in innumerable instances of misconduct, orchestrated the State's case and witness testimony that tainted each of the three trials. The misconduct included witness intimidation, coerced and false testimony influenced by promises of cash payments or other benefits, withholding of critical, material information, and government overreaching that deprived Flanagan of his constitutional rights during each trial. Indeed, the prosecutors' pervasive and egregious misconduct during the three trials resulted in convictions and sentences based not on a dispassionate and fair application of the law, but rather on false testimony, religious fervor, bias, misinformation, non-record information, and improper and erroneous legal standards, all in violation of Flanagan's First, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments rights to freedom of speech, rights to association, separation of church and state, a fair, reliable, and rational determination of guilt and individualized determination of penalty. Flanagan did not have a jury that considered and weighed only materially accurate, non-prejudicial, relevant evidence of which Flanagan had notice and a fair opportunity to refute, nor did it give full effect

the district court's conclusions are adopted from the prevailing party's suggestions, ... the appellate court is to engage in 'careful scrutiny'").

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