ORIGINAL

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

ARGUMENT

The State submits that all of Defendant's claims in this appeal are procedurally barred except for the ineffective assistance of counsel claims pertaining solely to the third penalty hearing. Remittitur from affirmance of Defendant's conviction issued in 1988 and Defendant has had ample time and opportunity to raise his guilty phase issues. Any claims of ineffective assistance of counsel arising from the final penalty hearing are timely filed, however, they are belied by the record and are without merit.

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Defendant's appeal herein challenges a denial of his second post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus. In 1995, Defendant filed his first petition for writ of habeas corpus prior to his third penalty hearing. See 25 A.A., p. 6037, 6040, 6076, 6144-6145. The 1995 petition for writ of habeas corpus attacked the validity of the guilt phase from 1985. See 25 A.A., p. 6064-6065. On June 6, 1995, the district court denied Defendant's petition (Order filed on July 28, 1995). 25 A.A., p. 6036-6037. On June 23, 1995, the jury returned a death sentence for the third time. 25 A.A., p. 5966. Defendant appealed both (25 A.A., p. 6064-6065), and this Honorable Court affirmed Defendant's conviction and sentence on December 20, 1996. 25 A.A., p. 6040-6062. Thus, to the extent Defendant's 1998 petition raising guilt phase issue, it is procedurally barred and successive in violation of NRS 34.810. NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2) provides in pertinent part: "The court shall dismiss a petition if the court determines that ... [t]he petitioner's conviction was the result of a trial and the grounds for the petition could have been ... [r]aised in a direct appeal or a prior petition for a writ of habeas corpus or post conviction relief...". Under NRS 34.810(2), a second or successive petition must be dismissed if it fails to allege new or different grounds, or the failure to assert new or different grounds in a prior petition for writ of habeas corpus constitutes an abuse of the writ.

Furthermore, NRS 34.726 provides:

(1) Unless there is good cause shown for delay, a petition that challenges the validity of a judgment or sentence must be filed within 1 year of the entry of the judgment of conviction or, if an appeal has been taken from the judgment, within 1 year after the Supreme Court issues its remittitur. For the purposes of this subsection, good cause for delay exists if the petitioner demonstrates to the satisfaction of the court:

(a) That the delay is not the fault of the petitioner; and

(b) That dismissal of the petition as untimely will unduly prejudice the petitioner.

On May 18, 1988, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed Defendant's conviction, but reversed and remanded the case to the District Court based on improper prosecutorial argument during the penalty hearing. <u>Flanagan v. State</u>, 104 Nev. 105, 754 P.2d 836 (1988)(<u>Flanagan I</u>). Remittitur for Defendant's guilt phase issued in 1988. Defendant's present petition for writ of habeas corpus (post-conviction) was filed approximately ten (10) years later on May 28, 1998. This is well in excess of the one year time bar established by

the statute. Due to the fact that Defendant filed his petition more than one year after Remittitur, and has failed to show good cause for his failure to abide by the statute, his petition must be dismissed. Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 34 P.3d 519, 525 (2001). In the event Defendant attempts to argue that this instant appeal was his first opportunity to attack the guilt phase with a post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus, this is belied by the record because he previously filed such a petition in 1995. See 25 A.A., pp. 6037, 6040, 6076, 6144-6145. Thus, Defendant's petition filed in 1998 was untimely as it was not filed within one (1) year of the 1988 Remittitur. The State also asserts the 5 year time bar for any guilt phase issues pursuant to NRS 34.800 and alleges prejudice in responding to the writ and conducting a retrial some twenty years later.

The Nevada Supreme Court has addressed similar issues in dealing with petitioners that have not filed their petitions within the statutorily prescribed range. This Honorable Court has said that to establish good cause, a defendant must demonstrate that some impediment external to the defense prevented him from complying with the procedural bar that has been violated. Lozada v. State, 110 Nev. 349, 353, 871 P.2d 944, 946 (1994). The Court reaffirmed this holding in Crump v. Warden, 113 Nev. 293, 934 P.2d 247 (1997). The Court went on to say that once the State has raised procedural grounds for dismissal, the burden then falls on the defendant "to show that good cause exists for his failure to raise any grounds in an earlier petition and that he will suffer actual prejudice if the grounds are not considered." Id. at 302, 934 P.2d at 253, citing Phelps v. Director of Prisons, infra, at 659, 764 P.2d 1305. The Court explained that in order to establish prejudice, the defendant must show "not merely that the errors of trial created possibility of prejudice, but that they worked to his actual and substantial disadvantage, in affecting the state proceedings with error of constitutional dimensions." Id. citing Hogan v. Warden, 109 Nev. 952, 960, 860 P.2d 710, 716 (1993).

In <u>Gonzales v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 590, 53 P.3d 901, 902 (2002), the Nevada Supreme Court rejected a habeas petition, pursuant to the mandatory provisions of NRS 34.726(1) that was filed two days late. <u>Gonzales</u> reiterated the importance of filing the petition within the

mandatory deadline, absent a showing of "good cause" for the delay in filing. <u>Gonzales</u>, 53 P.3d at 902.

"In order to demonstrate good cause, a petitioner must show that an impediment external to the defense prevented him or her from complying with the state procedural default rules." Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 30, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003); citing Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 886-87, 34 P.3d 519, 537 (2001); Lozada v. State, 110 Nev. 349, 353, 871 P.2d 944, 946 (1994); Passanisi v. Director, 105 Nev. 63, 769 P.2d 72 (1989); see also Crump v. Warden, 113 Nev. 293, 295, 934 P.2d 247, 252 (1997); Phelps v. Director, 104 Nev. 656, 764 P.2d 1303 (1988).

Such an external impediment could be "that the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available to counsel, or that 'some interference by officials' made compliance impracticable". Hathaway, 71 P.3d at 506; quoting Murray v. Carrier, 477 U.S. 478, 488, 106 S.Ct. 2639, 2645 (1986); see also Gonzalez, 53 P.3d at 904; citing Harris v. Warden, 114 Nev. 956, 959-60 n. 4, 164 P.2d 785 n. 4 (1998). Clearly, the delay in filing of the petition must not be the fault of the petitioner. NRS 34.726(1)(a).

To find good cause there must be a "substantial reason; one that affords a legal excuse". <u>Hathaway</u>, 71 P.3d at 506; *quoting* <u>Colley v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 235, 236, 773 P.2d 1229, 1230 (1989), *quoting* <u>State v. Estencion</u>, 625 P.2d 1040, 1042 (Haw. 1981).

The lack of the assistance of counsel when preparing a petition, and even the failure of trial counsel to forward a copy of the file to a petitioner, have been found to not constitute good cause. *See* Phelps v. Director Nevada Department of Prisons, 104 Nev. 656, 660, 764 P.2d 1303 (1988); Hood v. State, 111 Nev. 335, 890 P.2d 797 (1995). Also, the failure of counsel to inform the petitioner of his right to direct appeal did not rise to good cause for overcoming the time bar. Dickerson v. State, 114 Nev. 1084, 967 P.2d 1132 (1998).

Defendant's petition was untimely filed, and Defendant does not demonstrate good cause to overcome the procedural bar. This appeal should be dismissed as untimely.

This Honorable Court has previously held that Defendant was convicted by overwhelming evidence.

Here, there was overwhelming evidence of Flanagan's involvement in the planning and execution of the murders. Given the strength of the State's case, we hold that the prosecutor's conduct did not render the determination of Flanagan's guilt fundamentally unfair.

Flanagan v. State, 104 Nev. 105, 107, 754 P.2d 836, 837 (1988)(Flanagan I).

We characterized the evidence against Flanagan and Moore as "overwhelming" in our first opinion in this case. There is no reason to change that characterization now, nor has either appellant disputed the weight of the evidence against him. The evidence included eyewitness testimony regarding meetings held prior to the murders where appellants planned to kill the Gordons and statements made after the murders in which Flanagan admitted to killing his grandmother, Mrs. Gordon, and Moore admitted to killing Mr. Gordon. We conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury looked to this evidence in convicting appellants and that the prosecutor's improper remarks did not contribute to the verdict.

Flanagan v. State, 112 Nev. 1409, 1420, 930 P.2d 691, 698 (1996)(Flanagan IV).

Contrary to the assertions by Defendant, he was not automatically entitled to an evidentiary hearing. A defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing if his petition is supported by specific factual allegations, which, if true, would entitle him to relief unless the factual allegations are repelled by the record. Marshall v. State, 110 Nev. 1328, 1331, 885 P.2d 603, 605 (1994). "The judge or justice, upon review of the return, answer and all supporting documents which are filed, shall determine whether an evidentiary hearing is required." NRS 34.770(1). However, "[a] defendant seeking post-conviction relief is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on factual allegations belied or repelled by the record." Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 503, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984); citing Grondin v. State, 97 Nev. 454, 634 P.2d 456 (1981).

"If a judge or justice determines that the petitioner is not entitled to relief and an evidentiary hearing is not required, he shall dismiss the petition without a hearing." NRS 34.770(2) (emphasis added). The district court properly granted an evidentiary hearing solely for the alleged conflict regarding counsel during Defendant's third penalty phase. The district court properly ruled that an evidentiary hearing was not required for the other issues for the following reasons: Attorney Pike was not ineffective, some claims were bare and naked allegations, other claims were barred by the law of the case, and the subsequent penalty hearings rendered the first two moot. 30 A.A., p. 7283-7284.

Defendant alleges that the district court improperly deprived him of the funds necessary to investigate and present his claims for relief. Defendant fails to advise this Honorable Court that the district court did in fact authorize \$16,000.00 for investigative fees in the instant underlying petition for writ of habeas corpus.

In this matter, Petitioner Flanagan's counsel obtained two Orders dated July 7, 1998 and February 24, 1999 granting investigative fees not to exceed \$1,000 and \$15,000, respectively. Despite the fact that no further request was made until December 1999, some 10 months later, investigation fees were incurred during that time in the amount of \$128,774.89, which Petitioner Flanagan's counsel sought reimbursement in December 1999. Additionally, since the December 1999 motion and through May 2000, another \$105,275.38 was expended as investigation fees. The total reimbursement through May 2000 that counsel seeks is \$234,050.27. The expenditure of these funds is considered by the Court to be excessive and would not have been granted had they been requested prior to being incurred. In Sonner v. State, 112 Nev. 1328, 930 P.2d 707 (1996), the Nevada Supreme court held that although the defendant was entitled to attempt to prove his theory of defense, the law does not require an unlimited expenditure of resources in an effort to find professional support for his theory. As such, in this case, both of Petitioner Flanagan's requests for investigative fees (December 1999 in the amount of \$128,774.89 and August 2000 in the amount of \$105,275.38) must be denied. The Court modifies these requests and grants total investigative fees in the amount of \$16,000, which was previously authorized by the Court.

30 A.A., p. 7290 (August 28, 2000 Order by District Judge Mark Gibbons).

Counsel for Defendant sought *Reimbursement* of investigation expenses already incurred. 30 A.A., p. 7289. To imply that Defendant was denied an adequate investigation is disingenuous. The fact that Counsel for Defendant did not seek prior approval and receive full reimbursement for investigation expenses is of no consequence to this appeal. The pertinent fact is that an investigation occurred on behalf of Defendant with the price tag of \$234,050.27. Few defendants in Nevada history have had the investigative efforts and review of four (4) sets of counsel and a quarter of a million dollars in expenses.

Defendant also asserts that the district court improperly denied his discovery requests. "After the writ has been granted and a date set for the hearing, a party may invoke any method of discovery available under the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure if, and to the extent that, the judge or justice for good cause shown grants leave to do so." NRS. 34.780(2). (emphasis added). The district court granted an evidentiary hearing regarding the alleged conflict regarding counsel during Defendant's third penalty phase, but did not

find good cause to grant discovery. 30 A.A., p. 7282. Furthermore, the district court concluded that Defendant's discovery requests – including depositions of Nevada Supreme Court Justices and staff – were overbroad. 30 A.A., p. 7282; 27 A.A., p. 6541. Defendant erroneously argues the standards of review for civil procedure summary judgment motions. In Beets v. State, 110 Nev. 339, 871 P.2d 357 (1994), this Honorable Court held that the district court erred in entertaining a motion for summary judgment in the context of a post conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus.

Defendant also alleges that the district court abdicated its responsibility as an impartial and fair decision-maker by adopting the State's proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. The local rules for the Eighth Judicial District Court permit the prevailing party to draft the order. See EDCR 7.21. "...[E]ven when the trial judge adopts proposed findings verbatim, the findings are those of the court and may be reversed only if clearly erroneous." Anderson v. City of Bessemer, N.C., 470 U.S. 564, 572, 105 S.Ct. 1504, 1510-1511 (1985) (citations omitted). "If the district court's account of the evidence is plausible in light of the record viewed in its entirety, the court of appeals may not reverse it even though convinced that had it been sitting as the trier of fact, it would have weighed the evidence differently." Id. at 573-574. Defendant has failed to show that the district court's ruling was clearly erroneous.

I

DEFENDANT'S FIRST CLAIM SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE IT IGNORES THE "LAW OF THE CASE" DOCTRINE AND CONSISTS OF BARE/NAKED ALLEGATIONS

Defendant's first claim is a combined allegation of prosecutorial misconduct and an alleged failure by the State to disclose exculpatory evidence. Although he acknowledges the doctrine of "law of the case," Defendant selectively applies it to his allegations while ignoring its full effect on his petition/this appeal. While Defendant makes a number of allegations, which include an irrelevant synopsis of the views of former Deputy District Attorneys Mel Harmon and Dan Seaton on discovery, Defendant fails to offer any type of

substantiation for these claims. Moreover, Defendant's argument neglects to include any analysis pursuant to <u>Strickland</u> to illustrate how trial and/or appellate counsel was ineffective. Instead, Defendant launches into a lengthy dissertation on issues previously raised and decided on appeal.

A. Prosecutorial Misconduct

In the present case, Defendant asserts that the State coached, coerced and intimidated various State's witnesses while also proffering false and prejudicial testimony before the District Court. Defendant acknowledges that the issue of prosecutorial misconduct was addressed by the Nevada Supreme Court, but fails to acknowledge the full extent to which "law of the case" applies to this petition. "The law of first appeal is the law of the case on all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same." Bejarano v. State, 106 Nev. 840, 841, 801 P.2d 1388, 1389 (1990). "The doctrine of law of the case cannot be avoided by a more detailed and precisely focused argument substantially made after reflection upon previous proceedings." Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 316, 535 P.2d 797, 798-99 (1975). Upon review of Defendant's trial and initial penalty hearing, the Nevada Supreme Court ruled that:

there was overwhelming evidence of Flanagan's involvement in the planning and execution of the murders. Given the strength of the State's case, we hold that the prosecutor's conduct did not render the determination of Flanagan's guilt fundamentally unfair.

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